FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/9/2025 4:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme C	Court No	
COA No.	397441	
		Case #: 1037813

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MARY ELLEN SMITH,

Petitioner

V.

SPOKANE TRANSIT AUTHORITY a Political Subdivision of the State of Washington, and John Doe

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTONFOR SPOKANE COUNTY

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

MEYER THORP ATTORNEYS AT LAW, PLLC

By: Jodi Thorp, WSBA #59749 Attorney for Appellant PO Box 87 Spokane, WA 99210 (509) 533-1511

#

# **II.** Issues Presented for Review

Whether as a matter of law, a Good Samaritan who comes to the aid of another placed in peril by the Defendant, can be contributorily negligent for injuries sustained while helping the person in need.

# III. Statement of the Case

This Court should grant review as this issue involves a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(B)(4).

Mary Smith was the caregiver of Mr. Roller, a non-verbal, developmentally disabled man who utilized a wheelchair. RP 316:19-24. She and Mr. Roller were passengers on a Spokane Transit Authority bus for disabled people. RP 294:12-13. The driver of that bus has the responsibility to secure the wheelchair of his passengers and failed to do so. RP 37:1-2, RP 281:19-21; RP 1312:2-3; RP 1311:23-24, RP 293:8-10. When the driver turned a corner, Mr. Roller and the wheelchair fell over with Mr. Roller still strapped in. RP 1557:20. Spokane Transit

Authority admitted that its driver was negligent in failing to secure Mr. Roller and his wheelchair. RP 1548:14.

The bus driver attempted to lift Mr. Roller in the wheelchair but failed. RP 322:6-10, 325:23-24, RP 26:1-2. Mr. Roller was tipped over still strapped to his wheelchair on the floor of the bus and was panicking. RP 1053:9-10. Ms. Smith felt compelled to help Mr. Roller get back up despite having a back injury. RP 322:23-25. She assisted the driver and together, they were able to right Mr. Roller and his wheelchair back up. *Id.* While the driver testified at trial that he was able to lift the wheelchair himself, the undisputed video evidence showed him attempt to lift the wheelchair by himself and fail. RP 328-329; CP 82 (video), CP 515 (Exhibit P-15: video); RP 320, 328-329, 989. Furthermore, he did not tell Ms. Smith he could do it himself at the time and did not tell her not to assist him.

Ms. Smith injured her right shoulder and suffered a lumbar strain, thoracic strain, and right SI strain coming to the aid of Mr. Roller after Spokane Transit's negligent handling of Mr. Roller. RP 1146:7-8; RP 1189:21-24; RP 981:20-22, RP 962:1-3; RP 1146:7-8. The right SI strain was the most significant injury that stemmed from lifting the wheelchair. RP 1148:16-17.

Ms. Smith brought an action against Spokane Transit Authority to recover her lost wages and damages for pain and suffering due to its driver's negligence. RP 1446:9-20. Ms. Smith argued the driver had a duty to her as a passenger and

that she had a moral and ethical duty to help Mr. Roller after the driver's negligence placed him in a dangerous position. RP 1389:22-23 She also argued that contributory negligence should not apply where she had a moral obligation to help another human being. RP 1594:15-17.

While Spokane Transit Authority admitted negligence, they argued that Ms. Smith was contributorily negligent for coming to the aid of Mr. Roller when she knew the wheelchair was heavy and helping Mr. Roller could cause injury to her back. They argued she assumed the risk and did not exercise reasonable care for her own safety. RP 1550:19-20. RP 1582:24-25, RP 1583:17, RP 1585:1-5.

The jury found STA was liable for Ms. Smith's injuries but found Ms. Smith was contributorily negligent and apportioned 90% of the fault to Ms. Smith and only 10% to Spokane Transit Authority who caused the accident. RP 1620:21-25. RP 1621:5-9-13. RP 1621:14-22.

Ms. Smith made a pretrial motion for summary judgment and a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict with respect to contributory negligence. RP Vol. IV 1625:20-21. The good Samaritan, moral duty, principle is raised in Ms. Smith's Trial Brief on November 28, 2022 [CR94], in the additional jury instructions she filed December 6, 2022, and December 21, 2022, [138] in Ms. Smith's motion for a new trial filed January 5, 2023 [148] and again in Ms. Smith's

reply to Defendants response to plaintiff's motion for a new trial filed on January 27, 2023. [151] Those motions were denied. The lower court gave the contributory negligence instruction, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

The public has an interest in this Court deciding the issue of whether a Good Samaritan, a person who comes to the aid of another placed in peril by the Defendant, can be contributorily negligent for injuries sustained while helping someone in need.

# IV. Argument

A. The Trial Court Should Have Granted Ms. Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment on Contributory Negligence Because the Public Policy Considerations of the Good Samaritan and Rescue Doctrines Prohibit Contributory Negligence Absent a Showing of Gross Negligence or Wanton and Willful conduct.

The Good Samaritan Doctrine dictates that individuals who come to the aid of people in need should not be liable for injuries that occur when coming to the aid of such person who is put in peril by himself or a third party absent gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct. It's a doctrine of immense importance, deeply rooted in sound public policy and this Court's common law. Nevertheless, the trial court's decision below to allow the defense to argue contributory negligence undercut this doctrine, eviscerated strong public policy and contravened

well-established law. The Court should take this case for review because of this policy's importance.

Washington courts have previously determined that public policy considerations can preclude the contributory negligence defense. For instance, "as a matter of public policy, contributory fault does not apply" to situations where minors seek to obtain redress for sexual abuse. Christensen v. Royal School Dist. No. 160, 156 Wn.2d 62, 124 P.3d 283 (Wash. 2005). The Christensen Court noted "societal interests" should be considered in determining whether contributory fault is available as a defense and relied on the public policy of "protecting children" in determining that contributory negligence was not an available defense in situations of sexual abuse of minors. Id. "Because we recognize the vulnerability of children in the school setting, we hold, as a matter of public policy, that children do not have a duty to protect themselves from sexual abuse by their teachers. Moreover, we conclude that contributory fault may not be assessed against a 13-year-old child based on the failure to protect herself from being sexually abused..." Id.

The Good Samaritan doctrine encompasses a broad range of conduct where one renders any kind of aid to someone in need of help. <u>Gardner v. Loomis</u>

<u>Armored Inc.</u>, 128 Wn.2d 931, 940, 913 P.2d 377 (Wash. 1996). Protecting the Good Samaritan has roots in common law and statutory law. "It has long been the policy of our law to protect the 'Good Samaritan'." <u>State v. Hillman</u>, 66 Wn.App.

770, 776, 832 P.2d 1369 (Wash. App. 1992). The <u>Hillman</u> Court traced the concept of the "Good Samaritan" to biblical times when Jesus told a parable about a Samaritan who helped an injured traveler in response to a question about how to obtain eternal life. <u>State v. Hillman</u>, 66 Wn.App. 770, n.3, 832 P.2d 1369 (Wash. App. 1992)(citing Luke 10:30-37 (King James)).

1. Public policy Dictates that as a Matter of Law, a Good Samaritan Should not be Held Liable Under a Theory of Contributory Negligence for Injuries She Sustained While Helping Another and there Was No Evidence of Gross Negligence or Willful or Wanton Misconduct.

Embracing the Good Samaritan common law rule, Washington enacted a "'Good Samaritan' statute which provides immunity against civil liability [for negligence] for those who render emergency care at the scene of an emergency..."

State v. Hillman, 66 Wn.App. 770, 776 (Wash. App. 1992)(citing RCW 4.24.300).

Emergency care includes "care, first aid, treatment, or assistance rendered to the injured person who is in need of immediate medical attention." RCW 4.24.310(2).

Washington's Good Samaritan Statute protects citizens from civil liability who come to the aid of others during an accident or other sudden or unexpected event or combination of circumstances that calls for immediate action. RCW 4.24.310(3).

The protection of the "Good Samaritan" is so paramount that even if a person who aids a perceived victim who is later discovered to be the aggressor, the Good Samaritan is protected from criminal prosecution because the public policy

to help bystanders is so important that society wants Good Samaritans to come to the aid of innocent people without having to first determine who is at fault. State v. Penn, 89 Wash.2d 63, 66, 568 P.2d 797 (1977). The importance of protecting the Good Samaritan is further evidenced by the Washington Court of Appeals upholding an "exceptional sentence" where a defendant murdered a Good Samaritan who had come to his aid, reasoning that "although murder itself offends fundamental notions of morality, to murder a person who comes to one's aid discourages others from offering aid to persons in need of help. The ramifications to a civilized society are indeed disturbing." State v. Hillman, 832 P.2d 1369, 66 Wn.App. 770, 776 (Wash. App. 1992).

Our society supports and protects Good Samaritans who assist those in need. Society's strong public policy to encourage and support people who come to the aid of others is present in this case. Ms. Smith came to the aid of Mr. Roller who was tipped over in his wheelchair and lying on his side unable to move. She saw that the bus driver was not successful on his first attempt to lift Mr. Roller and she saw Mr. Roller in a state of panic. So, she came to his aid and helped the transit driver lift Mr. Roller and his wheelchair. Our sense of humanity dictates that a person who comes to the aid of a developmentally disabled person who is lying on the ground on his side, immobile, and strapped to his power wheelchair is a Good

Samaritan. And that Good Samaritan should be protected from liability for injuries she sustained where the event was caused by a third party.

2. The rescue doctrine is another public policy that protects those who rescue others and should bar the affirmative defense of contributory negligence where the defendant places the person being rescued in peril and the rescuer gets injured.

The Rescue Doctrine is based on the public policy that encourages people to help others in need. The rescue doctrine arises in the context of tort claims and seeks to encourage rescue. The doctrine "is intended to provide a source of recovery to one who is injured while reasonably undertaking the rescue of a person who has negligently placed himself in a position of imminent peril." Maltman v. Sauer, 84 Wash.2d 975, 976-77, 530 P.2d 254 (1975). Much like a plaintiff who can obtain recovery under the rescue doctrine from aiding someone who put themselves in peril, a plaintiff should be able to obtain recovery from a third party for coming to the rescue of someone who the third party put into peril without themselves having the same level of accountability as the third party who caused the incident. This finds support in the *Restatement (Third) of Torts*, which provides: "[I]f an actor's tortious conduct imperils another or the property of another, the scope of the actor's liability includes any harm to a person resulting from that person's efforts to aid or to protect the imperiled person or property, so long as the harm arises from a risk that inheres in the effort to provide aid."

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm § 32 (Am. Law Inst. 2010) (hereinafter Restatement). "The theory behind the rescue doctrine is that rescuers, as a class, are always foreseeable when the defendant's negligence endangers anyone." Id. (citing Prosser, Torts (4<sup>th</sup> ed.) SS 43, p. 258, discussing Justice Cardozo's rationale of the doctrine.

Other jurisdictions have extended the protections of the rescue doctrine to people rescuing persons put in peril by a third party. Colorado courts have recognized the "human instinct to help those in need, even at the risk of one's own safety," and implemented the rescued doctrine to encourage the instinct to help. Garcia v. Colo. Cab Co. LLC, 467 P.3d 302, 303 (Colo. 2020), reh'g denied (July 27, 2020) (courts adopted the rescue doctrine, which ensures that negligent actors who put others at risk may be held liable when their negligence injures a thirdparty rescuer). See also Williams v. Foster, 666 N.E.2d 678, 681 (Ill.App. 1996) ("if the defendant is negligent toward the rescuee, he is also negligent toward the rescuer."); Solgaard v. Guy F. Atkinson Co., 6 Cal.3d 361, 368 (1971)("Under the rescue doctrine, an actor is usually liable for injuries sustained by a rescuer while attempting to help another person placed in danger by the actor's negligent conduct.") This jurisprudence provides persuasive authority for this Court to consider.

As indicated in the Good Samaritan section above, Ms. Smith coming to the rescue of a disabled man who was tipped over by Spokane Transit Authority's negligence and who is unable to get up on his own, should have come within the public policy that protects rescuers. Thus, any determination that Ms. Smith is 90% at fault while STA is 10% at fault is against public policy and against our notions of fairness. But that result obtained because the trial court allowed a contributory negligence instruction that undercut these important public policies. The trial court erred, the court of appeal condoned this error, and now this Court should take this issue to restore the importance of these doctrines that are critical to a well-functioning society.

# **B.** Conclusion

This Court should grant review as this issue involves a substantial public interest and this public policy and legal issue is too important for the Court not to consider.

This document contains 2302 words, excluding portions of the brief excludable under RAP 18.17(b).