FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/4/2025 10:22 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Washington Supreme Court No. 1037813 Washington State Court of Appeals, Div. III No. 397441

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARY ELLEN SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

SPOKANE TRANSIT AUTHORITY, a Political Subdivision of the State of Washington, and John Doe

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul S. Stewart, WSBA #45469 John C. Riseborough, WSBA #7740 PAINE HAMBLEN, P.S. 717 W. Sprague Avenue, Suite 1200 Spokane, Washington 99201-3505 (509) 455-6000

Attorneys for Respondent Spokane Transit Authority

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Defendant-Respondent Spokane Transit Authority files this Answer to Smith's Petition for Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Smith seeks review of *Smith v. Spokane Transit Authority* (*STA*), No. 39744-1-III, 2024 WL 5055215 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 10, 2024), an unpublished opinion out of the Court of Appeals, Division III.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 22, 2018, a passenger in a wheelchair, Cody Roller, fell over while traveling on a paratransit van operated by Spokane Transit Authority ("STA"). The STA van operator stopped the van and began helping Roller. Roller's Direct Support Professional, Mary Smith, voluntarily assisted with the lifting of the wheelchair. Smith allegedly sustained an injury in the process and sued STA in Spokane County Superior Court.

One month before trial, Smith filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking an order establishing liability against STA and dismissing STA's contributory negligence and failure to mitigate affirmative defenses. The trial court denied Smith's motion.

The case was tried to a jury between December 12, 2022, and December 22, 2022. After both parties rested, Smith renewed her motion for summary judgment with respect to STA's contributory negligence and assumption of risk defenses. Smith argued that a "legal, moral and ethical obligation to act" had compelled her to assist the STA van operator, and that these obligations precluded STA from asserting either an assumption of risk or a contributory negligence defense. The trial court denied Smith's motion, finding that issues of material fact existed to Smith's knowledge of the risk she undertook by assisting the van operator and as to the existence of a moral duty.

STA stipulated that its driver was negligent, but denied that this negligence was a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries. The jury did not accept the denial and found that STA's negligence was a proximate cause of Smith's damages. However, the jury also found Smith contributorily negligent and 90% at fault for her own injuries; the jury found STA 10% at fault. The jury found Smith's damages amounted to \$100,000. When the verdict was reduced based on Smith's comparative fault, Smith's award was \$10,000.

After the December 2022 trial, Smith filed a motion for a new trial or increased award. In support of her motion, Smith argued that the trial court had erroneously instructed the jury on contributory negligence and failure to mitigate because those defenses were not supported by the evidence, and because permitting such defenses violated public policy. Smith further argued that her \$10,000 recovery was inadequate and had likely resulted from juror confusion. The trial court denied Smith's motion for new trial.

Smith then sought review by the Court of Appeals. Smith raised four arguments on appeal regarding (1) contributory negligence, (2) failure to mitigate, (3) the verdict form, and (4) the trial court's denial for a new trial or increased award.

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Smith's contentions and affirmed the trial court's rulings and the jury's verdict. With respect to contributory fault and assumption of risk arguments, the Court of Appeals first concluded Smith failed to sufficiently raise to the trial court the issue of whether the "Good Samaritan" and "rescue" doctrines prohibited the application of contributory negligence. *Smith v. STA*, 2024 WL 5055215 at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 10, 2024). Further, the Court of Appeals found that Smith failed to propose a jury instruction regarding such public policies. *Id.* As Smith failed to preserve the arguments for appeal, the Court of Appeals dismissed those arguments. *Id.*

The next error claimed by Smith on appeal related to STA's failure to mitigate defense. The Court of Appeals

concluded the defense did not affect the jury's verdict – the jury did not reduce Smith's recovery because of her failure to mitigate. *Id.* at *3.

Third, on appeal, Smith challenged the form given to the jury to use to reach its verdict. The Court of Appeals concluded, however, that because Smith did not propose her own verdict form, the form itself was not reviewable on appeal. *Id*.

In further reviewing Smith's juror confusion argument, the Court of Appeals concluded that, even if the verdict form confused the jury, the trial court adequately dispelled any confusion, and, importantly, double deduction of Smith's award did not occur. *Id.* at *4.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals concluded that, based on the evidence presented at trial, a reasonable jury could have found that Smith knew she would injure herself by helping the STA van operator lift a 250 - 270 pound man in his motorized wheel chair. *Id*.

For a more detailed recitation of the facts and analysis of Smith's arguments on appeal, please see the Court of Appeals' December 10, 2024 Opinion (attached to Smith's Petition for Review).

IV. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court will accept a petition for review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Smith's Petition for Review cites only to the fourth ground upon which the Court may grant review. This Court should decline to accept review of this case because Smith fails to demonstrate a substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The issue presented for review was not preserved for appeal.

Preliminarily, Smith's Petition for Review should be dismissed because the issue on which she seeks review is an issue that she did not raise with the trial court. Smith asks this Court to render a new rule that a Good Samaritan cannot be contributorily negligent for injuries sustained while helping a person in need. However, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, Smith did not make this argument to the trial court. *Smith*, 2024 WL 5055215 at *2-3.

It is well established that parties may not assert a claim on appeal that was not first raised at trial. *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 748-49, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). One of the purposes of RAP 2.5(a) is to afford the trial court the opportunity to rule correctly on a matter before it can be presented on appeal. A party may only raise a claimed error for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, and that

exception does not apply here. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *see also State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

Smith claims that she raised a Good Samaritan theory in additional jury instructions filed December 6, 2022, and December 21, 2022. The record does not support this contention. In fact, the Court of Appeals acknowledged Smith's failure to propose such an instruction, and deemed the argument waived. *Smith*, 2024 WL 5055215 at *2.

In addition to seeking review of arguments that she failed to preserve for appeal, Smith inappropriately seeks review of the trial court's denial of her summary judgment motions. *See Johnson v. Rothstein*, 52 Wn. App. 303, 304, 759 P.2d 471 (1988) (holding that "a denial of summary judgment cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are in dispute and must be resolved by the trier of fact"); *see also* RAP 2.2. Here, the trial court denied summary judgment twice, finding in both instances that there existed genuine issues of material fact for

the jury to decide. Tellingly, Smith's Petition continues to emphasize facts such as whether Roller was "panicking" at the time of the incident. This is evidence (including video evidence) that the jury was allowed to weigh, and which the jury resolved against Smith.

Smith's Petition for Review makes no attempt to dispute or disclaim the procedural deficiencies identified by the Court of Appeals. The issues remain procedurally barred.

B. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

This Court will accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if the decision involves a question of "substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). To determine whether an issue is of substantial public interest, the Court considers:

(1) whether the case is a matter of public concern or simply a private dispute, (2) the need for an authoritative determination to guide public officials in the future, (3) the likelihood of reoccurrence, and (4) the quality of the advocacy. Gonzalez v. Inslee, 2 Wn.3d 280, 289, 535 P.3d 864 (2023) (citation omitted); see also Hart v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 449, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988) (emphasizing that "rigorous examination and application" of these factors "is necessary to ensure [] an actual benefit to the public interest").

Each of these factors weigh in favor of declining review.

i. This case does not involve an issue of public concern.

First, a matter of public concern if it "immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture [of the state]." *Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). *See also State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (referring to a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative case as "a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" because it had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding . . .

where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue"); *Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (Table) (2017) (accepting review of an issue that would "affect public safety by removing an entire class of sex offenders from the registration requirements"); In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016) (accepted review because numerous similar claims were pending at the Court of Appeals at the time of petition); In re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016) (a statutory amendment drastically and inadvertently altered the Indian Child Welfare Act on its face). Conversely, "cases that are limited to their specific facts" do not raise an issue of substantial public interest. State v. Beaver, 184 Wn.2d 321, 331, 358 P.3d 385 (2015).

Here, Smith fails to establish that her case—a personal injury case that was tried to a jury and affirmed by the Court of Appeals—has any immediate, ongoing, or sweeping implications. This case is unlike the cases cited above where the issue presented would have an instant and widespread impact

on, e.g., all criminal sentencings. *Watson*, *supra*. Nor (to STA's knowledge) are there multiple cases pending in the Court of Appeals concerning this issue. *Flippo*, *supra*. On the contrary, this case is "simply a private dispute." *Beaver*, *supra*.

Smith conflates public interest/public concern with public policy generally. See, e.g., Pet. for Rev. at 4-10. Public policy "simply means that policy recognized by the state in determining what acts are unlawful or undesirable, as being injurious to the public or contrary to the public good." *Pierce v.* Yakima Mem'l Hosp. Ass'n, 43 Wn.2d 162, 166, 260 P.2d 765 (1953) (citation omitted). The courts recognize that "[p]ublic policy arguments 'are more properly addressed to the Legislature, not to the courts." McCaulley v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 5 Wn. App. 2d 304, 316, 424 P.3d 221 (2018) (quoting Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., 10 Wn. App. 252, 258, 11 P.3d 883 (2000)). For example, in codifying the Good Samaritan statute, the Legislature specifically excluded anyone who is "rendering emergency care during the course of regular employment." RCW 4.24.300(1). Therefore, as Roller's professional caregiver and Direct Support Professional, Smith was not acting in the capacity of a Good Samaritan as a matter of law.

In sum, Smith's recitation of a public policy that she believes favors her position does not mean that she has raised an issue of substantial public interest/public concern.

ii. This case does not involve the need for authoritative determination to guide public officials.

The second factor of the substantial public interest criteria, i.e., whether the issue presented is an issue on which public officials require guidance, is often a determinative factor. *Randy Reynolds & Assocs., Inc. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 153, 437 P.3d 677 (2019). *See also, e.g., In re Dependency of A.K.*, 162 Wn.2d 632, 644, 174 P.3d 11 (2007) (finding a substantial public interest in "the workings of the foster care system" where a "determination of how the courts' inherent power interacts with the statutory contempt scheme will

provide useful guidance to judges"); *Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023 (where it was a substantial public interest to correct the Court of Appeals' "adoption of a horizontal stare decisis rule" which "risk[ed] perpetuating incorrect decisions of law"); *Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 577 (where "the court's treatment of communications as ex parte in *later* proceedings ha[d] the potential to chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges") (alteration in original); *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet*, 144 Wn.2d 502, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001) (answering a question of substantial public interest: "may a prosecuting attorney offer an inducement to a defense witness to not testify at a criminal proceeding?").

Smith's Petition for Review does not implicate this crucial second factor. There are no public officials in need of guidance, nor are there erroneous interpretations of statutory law that require correction. Smith does not allege otherwise.

iii. The likelihood of recurrence is low and the quality of advocacy does not support review.

Finally, the third and fourth factors, like the first two, weigh in favor of declining review. This was a straightforward personal injury case based on a unique set of facts; although this exact situation could conceivably happen again, there is no indication that it is *likely* to recur.

Finally, in determining whether to grant a Petition for Review, the Court looks for strong advocacy. *In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 893, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) (accepting review, noting that the "quality of the advocacy [was] good because the parties' briefing addresse[d] the vital issue of the case . . . and the genuinely adverse parties fully litigated the merits of this case on numerous occasions"). Here, although Smith is represented by able counsel, there are deficiencies in the advocacy. Specifically, Smith pursues arguments that were not preserved for appeal, and which the Court of Appeals has already deemed waived. Further, Smith continues to rely on the

same inapplicable case law rejected by the Court of Appeals.

See Smith, 2024 WL 5055215 at *2-3.

In sum, Smith's Petition for Review does not raise an issue of substantial public interest, and the factors do not support one. Without establishing a substantial public interest, there is no basis for this Court's review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, STA respectfully requests that Smith's Petition for Review be denied.